IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-KA-02129-SCT

NICKEY WILLIAMS

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS George T. Holmes, MSB No. 301 N. Lamar St., Ste 210 Jackson MS 39201 601 576-4200

Counsel for Appellant

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-KA-02129-SCT

NICKEY WILLIAMS

APPELLANT

٧.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1:	WHETHER COUNTS I AND IV SHOULD HAVE BEEN SEVERED
	COD TRILLO

FOR TRIAL?

ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT EXCLUDED CRUCIAL

ADMISSIBLE DEFENSE EVIDENCE?

ISSUE NO. 3: WHETHER WILLIAMS WAS PREJUDICED BY INCOMPETENT

HEARSAY?

ISSUE NO. 4: WHETHER THE JURY WAS TAINTED BY MISCONDUCT?

ISSUE NO. 5: WHETHER THE WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE IS CONTRARY TO THE

VERDICT IN COUNT I?

ISSUE NO. 6: WHETHER THE SUFFICIENCY AND WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE ARE

CONTRARY TO THE VERDICT IN COUNT IV?

ISSUE NO. 7: WHETHER WILLIAMS WAS ENTITLED TO HAVE THE JURY

INSTRUCTED ON CHILD TESTIMONY?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nickey Williams was convicted of two counts of sexual battery in a jury trial August 4-6, 2008, in Lee County, with Honorable James S. Pounds, Circuit Judge presiding. Williams was sentenced to thirty years in the first count and twenty years, with ten suspended, in the remaining count, consecutive. Williams is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

In 2005, Nickey Williams and his wife Kimberly lived in the Lee County community of Mooreville. [T. 338, 376]. Nickey and Kimberly have three children, two of which are pertinent to this appeal, Ravyn born May 22, 2001 and Hanna, born April 20, 2005. [T. 375-76].

Prior to Hanna's birth, Ravyn had been removed from the Williams' home in September 2004 by the Mississippi Department of Human Services for neglect. [T. 330, 377]. The record is not specific. Ravyn was placed in therapeutic foster care with a goal of reunification with her parents. [T. 27, 254, 333, 377].

The initial placement of Ravyn in a foster home was with relatives, but that did not work out. [T. 331, 363]. So, another arrangement was made with Kay Smith and her husband who had been trained to be and had been foster parents to children from troubled homes before. [T. 25-26, 332].

During the initial months of Ravyn's foster arrangement, Nickey and Kimberly were afforded supervised visitation, but, no over-night. [T. 27-29, 255-58]. That changed in November 2005. *Id*.

Arrangements were made for Ravyn to spend the weekend with Nickey and Kimberly November 11-12, 2005. *Id.* Kimberly retrieved Ravyn from Kay Smith's Friday afternoon November 11th. *Id.* Ravyn was returned to Kay Smith's Sunday afternoon November 13 around 2:00 p. m. *Id.*

Later that Sunday night, Kay Smith said she was talking on the phone and observed Ravyn laying on a doll simulating what appeared to be sexual behavior. [T. 29-30, 258-60].

Ms. Smith asked the child why she was doing that, and the child burst into tears and said "Daddy".

hurt me." *Id.* Ravyn accused Nickey Williams of inserting a finger into her vagina while bathing. *Id.*

The requisite reports were made and, with what is now routine protocol, a forensic interview and medical exam were scheduled and conducted. [T. 300-01, 351]. The details of the forensic interview were not offered into evidence, but were reported to William Marcy, M. D., the physician who performed the examination. [T. 3761-74, 449]. Dr. Marcy was also told about the incident at Kay Smith's and Ravyn's accusation. *Id*.

Dr. Marcy had previously examined Ravyn upon her initial intake into DHS custody in September 2004. [T. 414-19]. At his second examination conducted November 15, 2005, the doctor noted inflammation and an increased hymenal diameter. [T. 421-29]. The child's hymenal opening previously was 3.5 mm, but subsequently measured at 7.5 mm. *Id*.

Hanna was also examined by Dr. Marcy three months later on February 15, 2006, when she was ten (10) months old. [T. 359, 431]. Dr. Marcy found Hanna's anus enlarged with some tearing. [T. 434-39]. Hanna had remained with her parents until February 13, 2006, when she was placed with Kay Smith. [T. 355].

Kimberly Williams testified that after Hanna was born, and she went back to work, the only people who kept Hanna were Kimberly's mother, grandmother, and Nickey Williams. [T. 388-89]. Kimberly described that if by chance Nickey would pick up Hanna from her mother or grandmother, he would come by her work place and hang around or go to relatives or friends. *Id.* Kimberly also stated that Hanna had been around a person who had allegedly molested Kimberly when Kimberly was young. [T. 395-96]

In a hearing to determine admissibility of hearsay under M. R. E. 803(25), Ravyn testified

she did not remember any mistreatment and denied making other allegations. [T. 71-84]. However, during trial testimony, Ravyn restated the accusations that her father put a finder into her vagina. [T. 466-70]. The trial court allowed some state witnesses to repeat what Ravyn told them under the tender years hearsay exception, others were denied. [T. 233-37].

Nickey was charged initially with five various counts of sexual battery and gratification of lust against his daughters Ravyn and Hanna. [R. 5-7]. However, Counts II, III and V were dispensed by *nolle prosequi* and Nickey stood trial on Count I, sexual battery by digital insertion against Ravyn 11-12-05, and Count IV, sexual battery against Hanna by anal insertion between April 2005 and February 2006. [R. 5-7, 116; T. 153]. Count IV was referred to as Count II in the jury instructions to avoid prejudice to Williams. [R. 113]. In this brief, the references are to the original count numbers.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The two counts under which Williams went to trial should have been severed. The trial court erroneously excluded crucial defense evidence without justification. Williams was irreparably prejudiced by incompetent hearsay. The weight of the evidence on count I was contrary to the verdict, while the sufficiency and weight under count IV were non-existent as to Williams' culpability. The jury was tainted by a juror who did not disclose a business relationship and friendship with a key state witness. The trial court should have granted an instruction on child testimony.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER COUNTS I AND IV SHOULD HAVE BEEN SEVERED FOR TRIAL?

The standard of review for this issue requires a determination of whether there was an "abuse of discretion" on the part of the trial court in denying a requested severance. *Rushing v. State*, 911 So.2d 526, 532(¶12) (Miss.2005). There are three matters to be addressed in a motion to sever criminal counts for trial: "[1] the time period between the offenses, [2] whether the evidence proving each offense would be admissible to prove the other counts, and [3] whether the offenses are interwoven." *Id.* at 534(¶15). There is no automatic severance required when "some element of the necessary proof as to one [count] would be inadmissible on the other [count] were it being tried separately." *Wright v. State*, 797 So.2d 1028, 1030(¶7) (Miss. Ct. App.2001). Rather, if there is "evidence that is admissible for one purpose and inadmissible for another, the jury should be "instructed as to the limited purpose for which the information is admitted" rather than exclude evidence. *Id.* at (¶8).

The Mississippi Supreme Court set out the procedure for trial courts to follow in addressing severance motions in *Corley v. State*, 584 So.2d 769, 772 (Miss.1991). *Corley* requires a hearing where the state has the burden to prove *prima facie* that the charges in the indictment fall within the parameters of MCA § 99-7-2 (Rev.2007)¹. If the state proves so, the

MCA § 99-7-2 (Rev. 2007):

⁽¹⁾ Two (2) or more offenses which are triable in the same court may be charged in the same indictment with a separate count for each offense if: (a) the offenses are based on the same act or transaction; or (b) the offenses are based on two (2) or more acts or transactions connected together or constituting parts of a common scheme or plan.

⁽²⁾ Where two (2) or more offenses are properly charged in separate counts of a single indictment, all such

moving defendant may offer rebuttal that the charges sought to be severed arose from "separate and distinct acts or transactions." *Id.* Then, the trial court must decide "whether the time period between the occurrences is insignificant, whether the evidence proving each count would be admissible to prove each of the other counts, and whether the crimes are interwoven." *Corley*, 584 So.2d at 772.

In the present case, *Corley* was not strictly followed. [T. 156-57]. The motion was made by defense counsel who expressed the need for severance to avoid prejudice of the jury finding guilt under one count and mistakenly presuming guilt on the other. Defense counsel stressed that for a significant portion of the time frames alleged, the children did not live in the same house with the appellant and his wife; and, this fact established that the alleged abuse against each child was separate and distinct from the other. *Id.* The state argued that some of the dates overlapped and the alleged events occurred "at the same place" and that the motion for severance was too late. *Id.*

The trial court found Williams' severance motion untimely, but nevertheless without merit. *Id.* There was no finding that the alleged "offenses [were] based on the same act or transaction; [nor that] the offenses [were] based on two (2) or more acts or transactions connected together or constituting parts of a common scheme or plan."

Williams' motion to sever was unquestionably timely under the rules. The learned trial court's ruling in this regard appears arbitrary. Uniform Circuit Court Rule 9.03 states:

The court may, on motion of the state or defendant, grant a severance of offenses **whenever**:

1. If **before trial**, it is deemed appropriate to promote a fair determination

charges may be tried in a single proceeding.

of the defendant's guilt or innocence of each offense; or 2. If **during trial**, upon the consent of the defendant, it is deemed

necessary to achieve a fair determination of the defendant's guilt or innocence of each offense. [emphasis added]

In *Sawyer v. State*, 2 So.3d 655, 657-58 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) the defendant was charged with and convicted of armed robbery and being a felon in possession of a firearm under state law. On appeal, Sawyer argued that the two counts should have been severed "because the jury would automatically infer that he was guilty of Count I, armed robbery, when the jury heard the evidence of his previous convictions for armed robbery, which were necessary to establish the elements of Count II, possession of a firearm as a convicted felon."

In Sawyer both crimes occurred simultaneously satisfying the first prong of the Corley analysis. Next the Sawyer court determined, under Corley, that the "evidence to prove the armed robbery count" also proved "the felon in possession of a firearm count, [since] ... both crimes require[d] that the State prove that Sawyer had possession of a firearm, and both crimes happened at exactly the same time." Sawyer, 2 So.3d at 657-58. So, they were interwoven under the third prong of Corley and was no abuse of discretion in the trial court's denying Sawyer's motion for severance. Id.

Accordingly, M. R. E. 404(b) issues have "no bearing on whether the trial court should allow a multi-count indictment." *Sawyer*, 2 So.3d at 657-58. [citing *Corley*, 584 So.2d at 772 n.

1.]. Nevertheless, the Supreme Court urged a separate 404(b) analysis upon retrial of Sawyer due to reversal on other grounds as "the trial court may reconsider whether severance is appropriate at the retrial of this case.

Applying the *Corley* factors to the present facts: [1] the time period between the offenses:

Count I - November 11-12, 2005, Count IV - between April 20, 2005 and February 14, 2006.

The overlap is 2 days out of 300, which would be minuscule to say the least. [2] Whether the evidence proving each offense would be admissible to prove the other counts, definitely not. [3] Whether the offenses are interwoven. No.

So, the facts of this case do not even come close to satisfying the *Corley* test. If the trial court had applied the test, it would have had to reach the same conclusion.

The *Corley* court said trial courts should be very careful in addressing severance of counts because the Supreme Court remains "unwilling to allow separate and distinct offenses to be tried in the same criminal proceeding....to avoid potential problems of a jury finding a defendant guilty on one unproven count due to proof of guilt on another, or convicting a defendant based upon the weight of the charged offenses, or upon the cumulative effect of the evidence." *Corley*, 584 So.2d 772. [Cites omitted]. The *Corley* court added that, if a severance motion is denied or if a severance motion is not made, it is "recommend that the trial court caution the jury that although the case before the jury involves charges of more than one offense, proof of guilt on one count is not proof of guilt on the other(s)." *Corley*, 584 So.2d 772, fn 2. This was not done in Williams' case which only exacerbates the miscarriage of justice here. A new trial is respectfully requested.

ISSUE NO. 2 WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT EXCLUDED CRUCIAL ADMISSIBLE DEFENSE EVIDENCE?

The defense had listed several family members and friends as character witnesses in discovery. [R-77; T. 520-22, 535-36, 540-41, 551-57]. On direct the witnesses were asked to describe first hand information about Nickey being a good father. *Id.* The trial court here

excluded most of this defense evidence, primarily, on the basis of alleged untimely discovery disclosure, and secondly on the basis of relevance. *Id.* The standard of review regarding the admission or exclusion of evidence is abuse of discretion. *Burton v. State*, 875 So.2d 1120(¶ 6) (Miss. Ct. App.2004).

The defendant made a proffer that the observations sought from the witnesses included a time frame of six (6) months before the incidents. [T. 551-57]. Otherwise the defense position is that discovery was fully and timely provided. So, the testimony was pertinent.

Assuming *arguendo* that the witness information was not disclosed by the defense, which is not admitted, the state never claimed surprise nor prejudice, and never requested a continuance nor mistrial. The trial court did not provide the state the opportunity to interview the witnesses as required by *Box v. State*, 437 So.2d 19 (Miss.1983). Instead, the trial court took the extreme measure of excluding defense evidence which Williams suggests was unconstitutional under the 5th and 14th Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article 3 §26 of the Mississippi Constitution (1890).

In *Ross v. State*, 954 So.2d 968, 999-1001 [¶65-68] (Miss. 2007), the Mississippi Supreme Court reversed because the trial court excluded conflicting statement evidence of a state witness offered by the defense for impeachment purposes on the grounds that the statement was not disclosed in discovery. Ross argued that even if there was a discovery violation, exclusion of the evidence was improper and prejudicial. The court agreed, stating that the trial court should have allowed "the State to review the statement and request a continuance, if necessary" and

otherwise follow the procedures set out in *Box v. State*, 437 So.2d 19 (Miss.1983). ²
Evidence offered by a defendant even in violation of discovery rules should not be excluded out of hand. *Ross*, 954 So. 2d 1000. [Citing *Carraway v. State*, 562 So.2d 1199, 1203 (Miss.1990)]. Rather, the State shall "be given the opportunity to meet the evidence" and move for a continuance or mistrial if necessary. The radical sanction of excluding defense evidence "is only appropriate where the defendant's discovery violation [is] 'willful and motivated by a desire to obtain a tactical advantage." *Id.* [Citing *Darghty v. State*, 530 So.2d 27, 32 (Miss.1988) (citing *Taylor v. Illinois*, 484 U.S. 400, 415, 108 S.Ct. 646, 655, 98 L.Ed.2d 798, 814 (1988)). See also *Houston v. State*, 531 So.2d 598, 611-12 (Miss.1988), [Exclusion "ought be reserved for cases in which the defendant participates significantly in some deliberate, cynical scheme to gain a substantial tactical advantage."

The *Ross* court reiterated that prejudice can result from failure to follow the *Box* procedures or arbitrarily "excluding testimony that tended to support a defendant's account of events. *Ross*, 954 So. 2d 1001. [Citing *Darghty v. State*, 530 So.2d 27, 33 (Miss.1988)

2

The Box procedure was written into U.R.C.C.P. 9.04(I),

If during the course of trial, the prosecution attempts to introduce evidence which has not been timely disclosed to the defense as required by these rules, and the defense objects to the introduction for that reason, the court shall act as follows:

^{1.} Grant the defense a reasonable opportunity to interview the newly discovered witness, to examine the newly produced documents, photographs or other evidence; and

^{2.} If, after such opportunity, the defense claims unfair surprise or undue prejudice and seeks a continuance or mistrial, the court shall, in the interest of justice and absent unusual circumstances, exclude the evidence or grant a continuance for a period of time reasonably necessary for the defense to meet the non-disclosed evidence or grant a mistrial.

^{3.} The court shall not be required to grant either a continuance or mistrial for such a discovery violation if the prosecution withdraws its efforts to introduce such evidence.

State objects to testimony because of a defendant's violation as when the defendant objects for the same reason."]]. Even though Ross was allowed to impeach the state witness with her prior inconsistent statement on cross-examination, the exclusion of the actual statement from evidence "did prejudice his case" and constituted reversible error. *Ross*, 954 So. 2d 1001

The same situation occurred with reversal in *Sandefer v. State* 952 So.2d 281, 293 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) where the court recognized that homage must always be paid to "the compulsory process clause of the Sixth Amendment" in ruling on discovery violations of a defendant under UCCCR Rule 9.04, because, even if the procedures under the rules are followed, the trial court cannot exclude defense evidence unless the "court determine[s] that the 'defendant's discovery violation [was] 'willful and motivated by a desire to obtain a tactical advantage.' *Id*.

To affirm the trial court's exclusion of the evidence here in Williams' case violates the sound rule that a defendant always has a right to establish a defense. *Washington v. Texas*, 388 U.S. 14, 19, 87 S.Ct. 1920, 1923, 18 L.Ed.2d 1019 (1967), *Wilson v. State*, 390 So.2d 575, 581 (Miss.1980). *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 302, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 1049, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973).

Williams respectfully requests a new trial.

ISSUE NO. 3: WHETHER WILLIAMS WAS PREJUDICED BY INCOMPETENT HEARSAY?

Since this issue involves an evidentiary ruling, the standard of review is one of abuse of discretion. Rule 103(a) of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence. *Withers v. State*, 907 So. 2d 342, 345 (¶ 7) (Miss. 2005).

A. Tender Years Exception

A hearing was conducted after the state gave notice of intent to utilize the tender years hearsay exception of rule 803 (25). [R. 25-138].³ At the hearing the foster mother, social workers, Ravyn and investigators all testified. *Id*.

When asked about her accusations of sexual abuse, Ravyn basically said she did not remember. [T. 68-82]. The trial court made its ruling allowing the foster mother Kay Smith and social worker/counselor Tina Ballard to testify but disallowed others. [T. 233-37].

Williams' position is that, with Ravyn admitting that she did not recall the incidents involving her accusations against her father, her reports became unreliable under 803(25). In further support of this position, it was revealed through the Clinical Supervisor of the foster care program, that Ravyn was an "aggressive" and disruptive child whose emotions were like a "roller coaster." [T. 92-93, 96, 119-20, 121]. Ravyn was described by the supervisor as having some "character issues" and she would not follow rules. *Id.* She was "very defiant with teachers" and "developmentally delayed.". [T. 120-21].

Reliability and trustworthiness are the ultimate factors in deciding admissibility of tender year exception evidence. In *Grimes v. State*, 1 So.3d 951 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009), the court carefully explained that a tender years exception inquiry does not end at a determination of a child being of tender years since, a child may be of tender years, but if indicia of reliability are

³Rule 803(25) provides the following:

A statement made by a child of tender years describing any act of sexual contact performed with or on the child by another is admissible in evidence if: (a) the court finds, in a hearing conducted outside the presence of the jury, that the time, content, and circumstances of the statement provided substantial indicia of reliability; and (b) the child either (1) testifies at the proceedings; or (2) is unavailable as a witness....

missing, the hearsay exception does not apply. Grimes ¶10.

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