#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**NICKEY WILLIAMS** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-2129-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

#### APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LA DONNA C. HOLLAND
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

####

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

Williams sought to introduce testimony from certain witnesses regarding their observations of Williams and his daughters over a six-month time frame leading up to the sexual assaults. However, defense counsel admitted on the record that these witnesses had not observed Williams and his daughters during that time frame. Additionally, the testimony was properly excluded as it was not provided in discovery.

R.W.'s out-of-court statements implicating her biological father were properly admitted under M.R.E. 803(25). A lengthy 803(25) hearing was conducted outside the presence of the jury and the trial court fully considered twelve factors used in determining whether a child-victim's statement bear substantial indicia of reliability. Williams has failed to show that the trial court abused its discretion in finding that the statements were admissible.

No juror misconduct occurred which would warrant a new trial. The juror in question did not knowingly withhold information, much less critical information, during *voir dire*. Additionally, the trial court determined that the juror was fair and impartial and that she based her verdict on the evidence presented.

The State presented legally sufficient evidence to support both verdicts. Neither verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, and neither verdict represents an unconscionable injustice.

Williams' proffered instruction on child testimony was properly refused as a comment on the evidence. The instruction singled out testimony and commented on the weight of the evidence. The

instruction was also properly refused as fairly covered elsewhere.

#### ARGUMENT

## I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING WILLIAMS' MOTION TO SEVER COUNTS I AND IV.

Williams was indicted for the sexual battery of R.W. and H.W. on April 27, 2006. C.P.5-7. Williams waited until the first day of trial, August 4, 2008, to ask that the court sever Counts I and IV. T. 153. The trial court ruled that the motion was untimely, and further found that Williams would not be prejudiced by trying both counts together. T. 157.

A trial court's decision to deny the defendant's motion to sever counts in an indictment is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Eakes v. State*, 665 So.2d 852, 861 (Miss. 1995). Two or more offenses may be charged in the same indictment if they are based on the same act or transaction or if the crimes involve "two or more acts or transactions connected together or constituting parts of a common scheme or plan." *Id.* (citing Miss. Code Ann. 99-7-2)). In ruling on a defendant's motion to sever counts, the trial court should consider the following factors; "the time period between the offenses, whether evidence proving each offense would be admissible to prove the other counts, and whether the offenses are interwoven." *Id.* (citing *Corley v. State*, 584 So.2d 769, 772 (Miss. 1991)).

In the present case, a multi-count indictment was proper because the crimes were connected together and involved a common scheme. Both daughters were sexually abused by Williams during the same time frame and while he was alone with them while the mother was at work. Further, all three *Corley* factors weigh in the State's favor. Count I was alleged to have occurred on or about November 12, 2005, while Count IV was alleged to have occurred between April 20, 2005 and February 14, 2006. As such, there is no time period between the offenses, as the sexual assault against R.W. occurred during the same time period as the assault against H.W. Even in cases where a specific date for each crime is alleged, a time period of five months between the commission of

the separate crimes was held by this Court to be insignificant. *Rushing v. State*, 911 So. 2d 526, 535-36 (¶17) (Miss. 2005). As to the second factor, whether the evidence proving each offense would be admissible to prove the other counts, Williams' analysis consists of the words, "definitely not." While the appellant's contention was true at one time, this Court held last year that in trial involving sexual abuse against a child, evidence of the defendant's sexual abuse of another child victim is no longer *per se* inadmissible. *Derouen v. State*, 994 So. 2d 748 (Miss. 2008) (overruling *Mitchell v. State*, 539 So.2d 1366 (Miss. 1989) and *Lambert v. State*, 724 So.2d 392 (Miss. 1998)). Accordingly, even if the counts had been severed, evidence that Williams sexually assaulted R.W. could have been admitted in his trial for sexual assault of H.W. to show motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident. Finally, the offenses are clearly interwoven as they were a part of a common scheme or plan.

The trial court also properly denied the motion as untimely. See *Broderick v. State*, 878 So.2d 103, 105 (¶8) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). For the foregoing reasons, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Williams' motion to sever the two counts of sexual assault in his indictment.

## II. EVIDENCE WHICH THE TRIAL COURT RULED WAS IRRELEVANT WAS PROPERLY EXCLUDED.

Williams argues on appeal that the trial court improperly excluded defense witness testimony regarding observations of Williams and his daughters over a six-month time frame leading up to the sexual assaults. The trial court did exclude some testimony on the subject because it was not provided in discovery, it was irrelevant as to whether Williams committed the sexual assaults, and the defense failed to lay the proper predicate to show that the witnesses had observed the defendant and victims during this time frame. T. 553, 556. Defense counsel explicitly admitted on the record that the witnesses could not have observed Williams with R.W. six months before the assault because she was in DHS custody. T. 540,553-54. Clearly, the witnesses could not testify to matters beyond their personal knowledge.<sup>3</sup> Furthermore, even had the defense witnesses had such personal knowledge, the trial court was correct in finding that any testimony that Williams appeared to be a loving father six months prior to the assault had no relevance regarding whether or not he committed the assaults. Common sense dictates that the sexual abuse of a child is done secretly and privately.

Furthermore, Iris Culver testified that she saw Williams and R.W. on the weekend of the sexual assault and observed nothing unusual and opined that the pair seemed affectionate toward each other. T. 531. Danny Tutor testified that Williams was a loving father and seemed to have a normal relationship with his daughters. T. 504. Williams echoed this sentiment when he testified in his own defense. Accordingly, not only was the evidence in question properly excluded because the witnesses did not observe Williams with his daughters in the months prior to the assault, but also

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The appellant's analysis of this issue focuses on the trial court's additional reason for excluding the evidence due to a reciprocal discovery violation. However, it goes without saying that the evidence in question could not have been provided in discovery since it was information that was not within the witnesses' personal knowledge.

such testimony would have been cumulative because three witnesses with personal knowledge testified that Williams was allegedly a good father who had what appeared to be a normal loving relationship with his daughters.

The evidence in question was properly excluded, and Williams second assignment of error must fail.

## III. R.W.'S OUT-OF-COURT STATEMENTS WERE PROPERLY ADMITTED UNDER M.R.E. 803(25).

The admission or exclusion of testimony is reviewed for abused of discretion. *Bishop v. State*, 982 So. 2d 371, 375 (¶15) (Miss. 2008). Williams claims that the trial court committed reversible error in allowing Mrs. Smith and Ms. Ballard testify about R.W.'s spontaneous statements implicating her father as a sexual predator, claiming that R.W.'s testimony at the 803(25) hearing rendered her allegations unreliable. The State certainly does not dispute that throughout R.W.'s testimony at the 803(25) hearing, she repeatedly answered, "I don't know," and "I don't remember." However, these replies were followed with R.W.'s testimony that it is not true that she does not know or remember. Williams goes so far as to characterize R.W.'s testimony at the hearing as "recantations." However, it is abundantly clear that R.W.'s testimony at the hearing was due to the fact that the father who sexually assaulted her was sitting only feet away from her in the courtroom. R.W.'s testimony at the hearing, which occurred over two years after the abuse and initial allegations, has absolutely no bearing on the reliability of her earlier reports of the sexual assault.

To determine whether a child-victim's out-of-court statements of sexual abuse are admissible under M.R.E. 803(25), the trial court considers the twelve factors listed in the comment to the rule to determine whether the statements bear a substantial indicia of reliability. *Id.* at 376 (¶17). In the present case, the trial court heard testimony from both sides at the 803(25) hearing and determined that R.W.'s statements of abuse were reliable. Williams discusses only one of the twelve factors in urging this Court to find that the trial court erred in determining that the statements bore substantial indicia of reliability. Nevertheless, the State will briefly show that testimony concerning all twelve factors was presented in support of showing that R.W.'s out-of-court statements were reliable. Although Lowery was not permitted to testify to the hearsay statement R.W. told her, Lowery's

testimony regarding the following factors could still be considered in determining the reliability of the out-of-court statements of abuse to which Smith and Ballard were allowed to testify.

#### Whether there is an apparent motive of declarant to lie

R.W. had been in Mrs. Smith's care for eight months at the time the allegations were made.

T. 25, 28. During this time, she had visited with Williams numerous times.<sup>4</sup> After the first unsupervised, overnight visit was the first time that R.W. reported a sexual assault. No testimony at the hearing indicated that R.W. was motivated to fabricate the allegations.

#### The declarant's general character

Mrs. Smith testified that R.W. is generally a well-mannered child who is not prone to "making up stories." T. 6. Mrs. Smith further characterized R.W. as trustworthy. T. 58. Ms. Ballard, R.W.'s counselor, testified that R.W. was very mature for her age and communicated effectively. T. 93. Ballard also testified that R.W. shut down and refused to talk about any issue which made her uncomfortable. T. 92-93. R.W. would also become aggressive, slam objects down, and slam doors if the issue of sexual abuse came up. T. 93-94. As noted by Williams, Ms. Lowery, testified that R.W. had character issues insofar as she could be disruptive, aggressive, and defiant at school. T. 120. When asked to elaborate, Lowery stated the following.

She's just defiant and don't want to do her work or different things. But other times we receive a report from the school where during naptime or different things she was actually sexually acting out acts and sexually aggressive with little boys and trying to act out at naptime with other kids at school.

T. 120. Lowery elaborate further, stating that R.W. actually tried to take off boys' clothes and play with their "private areas." T. 138. Obviously, R.W. not wanting to do schoolwork has no bearing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>After being placed in Mrs. Smith's care, R.W. visited with Williams once a month at first, and then twice a month. T. 28.

on the reliability of her allegations. However, a four year old trying to simulate sexual acts with other children certainly gives credibility to her claim that her father performed sexual acts on her.

#### Whether more than one person heard the statements

R.W. made the spontaneous statements to three people, Mrs. Smith, Ms. Ballard, and Ms. Lowery. T. 30, 96, 124. Mrs. Smith also stated that her husband was present and heard R.W.'s initial revelation that Williams sexually assaulted her. T. 55.

#### Whether the statements were spontaneous

Smith, Ballard, and Lowery each indicated that the statements were spontaneous. R.W. was sexually acting out with a babydoll when Smith asked her what she was doing. R.W. began crying and said that her dad hurt her. When asked what she meant, R.W. rammed her fingers between the babydoll's legs. T. 30. Ballard stated that she only asked R.W. if she enjoyed her first overnight visit with her biological parents when R.W. stated that her dad hurt her "down there." T. 95-96. Ballard had no prior knowledge of the allegations before asking the general question about the visit. T. 96. Lowery had not even asked about the overnight visit when R.W. told her "she was glad that she didn't have to go back to visit with her dad because she wouldn't be hurt anymore." T. 125.

#### The timing of statements

Each statement was made either immediately after or in the weeks following the assault. R.W. told Smith about the assault the very night she was brought back to Smith's home after the overnight visit. R.W. told Ballard about the assault during their first counseling session after the assault. T. 95. R.W. made the statement to Lowery during a home visit one month after the assault T. 123.

#### The relationship between the declarant and the witness

By all accounts, Mrs. Smith and R.W. have a loving relationship. Mrs. Smith testified that

she loved R.W. like her own child and was in the process of adopting her at the time of trial. T. 261. Ballard testified that she had established a rapport with R.W., they had a good relationship, and R.W. felt comfortable talking to her except about sexual abuse or other uncomfortable topics. T. 92-93. R.W. trusted Smith and Ballard and had relationships with them from the time she was first placed in foster care.

#### The possibility of faulty recollection by the declarant is remote

As previously stated, R.W. made the allegations immediately after the assault and then again just weeks later. Further, R.W. consistently maintained that her father was her abuser, and she has never accused anyone else of the sexual assault.

#### Certainty that the statements were made

Smith, Ballard, and Lowery expressed no uncertainty that the statements were made.

#### The credibility of the witness testifying about the statements

Smith's and Ballard's credibility was never brought into question by the defense.

#### The declarant's age or maturity

Although R.W. was only four-years-old when the abuse occurred and when she made the statements, Ballard testified that she was mature for her age and that she communicated with adults in a mature manner. T. 93.

#### Whether suggestive techniques were used in eliciting the statement

Neither Smith, Ballard, or Lowery elicited the statements from R.W., much less in a suggestive manner. The statement to Smith was totally spontaneous. The statement to Ballard was made after a general question about her weekend. The statement to Lowery was made after Lowery asked R.W. if she felt safe in the Smith home.

Whether the declarant's age, knowledge and experience made it unlikely that the declarant

#### fabricated

R.W possessed sexual knowledge beyond her age of four years. R.W. was "humping" the babydoll before she told Smith that Williams placed his fingers in her "front private." R.W. also sexually acted out at school by trying to take off boys' clothes at naptime and play with their "private areas" and kiss on them. T. 121, 138.

In summary, Williams asks this Court to focus on the child-victim's demeanor at the hearing and determine that her initial spontaneous reports of abuse were not reliable. Williams' focus on R.W.'s testimony at the hearing is misplaced. The trial court fully considered the above factors and did not abuse its discretion in determining that the statements were admissible. Accordingly, the trial court's decision that the statements were admissible must be upheld.

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